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QUESTION PRESENTED

Prosecutors, judges, and defense lawyers know that 
the statute of limitations for almost all federal crimes is 

 

an information (with the defendant’s consent) within those 

the statute of limitations in a criminal case.
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING

Petitioner Andre Briscoe was the defendant in the 



iii

RELATED PROCEEDINGS

• United States v. Briscoe, 101 F.4th 282 (4th Cir. 
2024);

• United States v. Briscoe, 2020 WL 5076053 (D. 
Md. August 26, 2020).
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

OPINIONS BELOW

United States v. Briscoe, 101 F.4th 282 (4th 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

STATUTORY AND  
OTHER PROVISIONS INVOLVED

U.S. Const. amend. V



2

18 U.S.C. § 3282(a)

(a) When Used.

(1) Felony. An offense (other than criminal 

. . .

Waiving Indictment
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 7.

indicted Briscoe and argued that the indictment related 

§ 

ruled in a similar context that an unlawful charging 
 United 

States v. Jaben, 381 U.S. 214, 217-220 (1965).

of Justice asked Congress to extend the 5-year statute of 



4

to extend the statute of limitations.

As a result of Congress’ choice not to extend the 

defense to an information. Many defendants agreed 

But Mr. Briscoe did not consent to an information 

from another district. Instead, it tried an end-run around 

limitations.

case, United States v. Burdix-Dana, 149 F.3d 741, 743 (7th 



5

Jaben, 
381 U.S. 214, which held that a criminal case was not 

to the requirement that a grand jury return an indictment 
against a defendant within the statute of limitations. 

extension to the Congressionally mandated limitations 
in the statute.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Fifth Amendment to the Constitution requires 

must return an indictment. U.S. Const. amend. V. Like 

the defendant
nature of the charge and of the defendants rights
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Id. Based on the 

jury indicted Briscoe on July 1, 2020 after the statute 
of limitations had run. Id

Id.

limitations. Id. The district court denied that motion, 

three times. Id

Id
the counts (Counts One, Two and Three) carried forward 

Id. Briscoe timely 
Id.

Briscoe argued that the statute of limitations ran on May 
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was therefore untimely. Id

Id.

Circuit, United States v. Burdix-Dana, 149 F.3d 741, 743 

it within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 
The Fourth Circuit either ignored or did not meaningfully 

Burdix-Dana 
and come out the other way, including United States v. 
Gatz, 2023 WL 8355363 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 1, 2023) (holding 

Burdix-Dana was 
United States v. Machado, 2005 

The Fourth Circuit also failed to address this Court’s 
decision in Jaben, 381 U.S. at 217-220, which held that 

follows.
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT

following his last alleged criminal act.1 Accordingly, the 

filed an 

institute one. In order for a charging 

See Fed. R. Crim. 

 

on these three counts, this Court should remand to the Fourth 
Circuit to determine whether Briscoe is entitled to a new trial on 
the remaining counts.
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jury.2 See, e.g., United States v. Teran, 98 F.3d 831, 835 

United States v. 
Moore

(quoting United States v. Montgomery, 628 F.2d 414, 416 
(5th Cir. 1980))); United States v. Wessels, 139 F.R.D. 607, 

lack of an Indictment in a federal felony case is a defect 

United States v. 
Machado

charging function as an indictment. Indeed, a court in 

See also Wessels, 139 F.R.D. at 609 

Procedure, an information charging a felony offense is 

cannot satisfy the statute of limitations. See, e.g., United States v. 
Ellis, 622 F.3d 784, 792 (7th Cir. 2010); United States v. Thompson, 
287 F.3d 1244, 1251-52 (10th Cir. 2002).
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for the Fourth Circuit.

Jaben 
v. United States, 381 U.S. 214 (1965).

In Jaben v. United States, 381 U.S. 214 (1965), this 

after the statute had already run. Id.

date which is 9 months after the date of the making of the 

Id. Jaben 

to toll the statute of limitations. Id. at 217. Accordingly, 

Id.; see also 
Fed. R. Crim. P. 4–5.
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Id. 

 . . . as 

Id. 

to begin effectively the criminal 
Id. 

Thus, Jaben rejected the suggestion that the mere 
Id. at 220. A felony 

information to which a defendant does not consent is 

Id. Because 

3282.
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Although the Fourth Circuit did not mention Jaben 

that Jaben

‘is instituted,’ language identical to that at issue here. 
None of the Justices agreed with the argument now 

United States v. Gatz, 2023 

here is the same, and the analysis in Jaben is directly 
Id. at *8. See also United States v. De La 

Torre, 20-20182-Cr-Williams/Torres (Doc. 71) (S.D. Fla. 
Burdix-Dana

to meaningfully engage with Jaben

Id. at 18 (internal citations omitted).

Jaben

document. In Smith v. United States, 360 U.S. 1 (1959), 

Smith, 360 U.S. 
at 10. Here, as in Smith
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United States v. Burdix-Dana, 149 F.3d 741 (7th Cir. 1998), 
which held that the term ‘instituted’ requires only that 

Burdix-Dana.3

issue in United States v. B.G.G., 53 F.4th 1353 (11th 

limitations, and that the district court (which dismissed 
Id. 

Id. at 1362 (citations 
omitted).

3. See, e.g., United States v. Rothenberg

statute of limitations); United States v. Webster, Case No. 20-20172, 

United States v. Weiss

United States v. Rosecan
Burdix-Dana, 149 F.3d 741);United States v. 

Holmes, 2020 WL 6047232 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 13, 2020) (same).
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name, Dr. Bart Gatz. The district court again dismissed 

information did not toll the statute of limitations. United 
States v. Gatz, 2023 WL 8355363 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 1, 

 of an information is not the same 
as instituting Id

Burdix-Dana was not correctly 

Id. at *6. The court continued 
that while Burdix-Dana

Id. The court 

Burdix-Dana.

uncertainty in that Circuit.

In addition to Gatz
the reasoning of Burdix-Dana and Briscoe.

In United States v. Machado, 2005 WL 2886213 (D. 

Briscoe
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Id. 

id. at *2, and reached 

Id. (quoting 
Wessels, 139 F.R.D. at 609). The court reasoned that 

Id. at *2. The Court rejected Burdix-Dana 

United States v. Stewart
Burdix-Dana

the Machado

And in United States v. Sharma, 2016 WL 2926365 
(S.D. Tex. May 19, 2016), the court found that the timely 

Id.
 . . . 



16

Id. at *5. (internal citations omitted).

In United States v. De La Torre, 20-20182-Cr-
Williams/Torres (Doc. 71) (S.D. Fla. Oct. 21, 2022) the 

Burdix-
Dana

Putting aside for a moment that Burdix-
Dana

considered and addressed that discerning the 

 . . . 

B.G.G

Id. at *16-17). The De La Torre court went on to harshly 
criticize Burdix-Dana

Id. at 18 
(internal citations omitted).
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The Machado
consequences of following Burdix-Dana

C. This case is an ideal vehicle to address the important 

extend the statute of limitations.

forward.

meaningfully add anything to this Court’s resolution of 
the matter.

The Fourth Circuit’s conclusion that an information 
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this case is that due to the challenges of the COVID-19 era 

this time

Gatz at *24.

See 18 U.S.C. § 3293 

 . . . unless the indictment is 

 § 
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§ 

Where it wants to, Congress knows how to write 

 . . . 

Keene Corp. v. United States, 508 
U.S. 200, 208 (1993).

Toussie v. United States, 397 U.S. 112, 115 

Toussie, 397 U.S. at 114-
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extend the statute of limitations for six months or more 

and would render meaningless the statute of limitations 
set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3282.

§ 

to COVID is that Congress did not want the statute of 

4

4. There was withering condemnation from across the 
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of limitations. United States v. Plezia, --- F. 4th ---, 2024 
WL 3894911 at *7 (5th Cir. August 22, 2024). The court 

Id

Id.

statutes of limitations afford.
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CONCLUSION

Fourth Circuit.

DAVID OSCAR MARKUS

 Counsel of Record
MARKUS/MOSS PLLC

40 N.W. 3rd Street
Penthouse One
Miami, FL 33128
(305) 379-6667
dmarkus@markuslaw.com
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1a

APPENDIX A — OPINION OF THE UNITED 
STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH 

CIRCUIT, FILED APRIL 30, 2024

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

No. 23-4013

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 

ANDRE RICARDO BRISCOE, A/K/A POO, 

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 
District of Maryland, at Baltimore. Richard D. Bennett, 
Senior District Judge. (1:20-cr-00139-RDB-1)

March 22, 2024, Argued 
April 30, 2024, Decided



Appendix A

2a

THACKER, Circuit Judge:

in the purchase and sale of narcotics in the Baltimore 
area. He learned from a contact, Kiara Haynes, that 
Jennifer Jeffrey had received a large supply of heroin. 

testify against him.

all charges.

and searched his person. Third, he argues that the 
Government committed a Brady1

1. Brady v. Maryland



Appendix A

3a

from the time of the murder. Fourth, he argues that the 

he argues that the district court should have granted his 

I.

A.

and Tony Harris. Their ultimate source for narcotics, 

product and, as a longtime heroin user, he recognized its 
appearance and effects.

is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good 
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B.

grams of narcotics and sell them to Appellant in order to 

2 That night, Appellant visited Jeffrey at her home, 

narcotics. He then murdered her, shooting her multiple 

C.

Jeffrey and K.B. Baltimore City Police homicide detectives 
responded to the scene and opened an investigation into 

2. 
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Jeffrey and discovered that the last dialed call, placed 

3 from 
the Circuit Court for Baltimore City to identify, among 
other things, cell site location information connected to 

4 

unit. After unsuccessfully searching apartment 101, the 

3. 

location data to identify the present location of a cell phone. Md. 

4. 



Appendix A

6a

Once inside apartment 202, the officers secured 
Appellant and his cell phone and conducted a protective 

in the apartment, including Appellant, to the police 

2015.

D.

Federal investigators opened an investigation into 

light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

a different end date to the facts underlying the conspiracy 
charge. Appellant moved to dismiss the indictment as 
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denied that motion, concluding that the indictment related 

crime of violence (for the deaths of Jeffrey and K.B.), and 

superseding indictment on June 23, 2021, to add Haynes 



Appendix A

E.

5 

years. On January 1, 2023, the district court sentenced 

sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment as to Counts 

sentence of “imprisonment for life” if a defendant commits 
“a serious violent felony,” such as murder, against a victim 
under 14 years old and the victim dies as a result.

Appellant timely appealed.

5. 

United 
States v. Udeozor United 
States v. Robinson United 
States v. Hedgepeth, 434 F.3d 609, 613 (3d Cir. 2006) (noting that 
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II.

statute of limitations had run. Second, Appellant argues his 

a cell site simulator to determine his location, searched the 

Third, Appellant argues the Government committed a 
Brady

murder victims had recorded any footage from the time 
of the murder. Fourth, Appellant argues the Government 

guilty verdict. Fifth, Appellant argues the district court 

A.

Statute of Limitations

Appellant contends his indictment should have 

of limitations had run. Appellant moved to dismiss his 

de novo
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dismiss. United States v. Ojedokun
(4th Cir. 2021).

for any offense, not capital, unless the indictment is found 

6

Toussie v. United States, 

6. 
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indictment against Appellant, effectively realleging the 
charges contained in the information.

Given that the latest date of alleged conduct in 

27, 2015, Appellant contends the statute of limitations 

after the statute of limitations had run, it emphasizes that 
before the statute of limitations 

had run. The Government argues the indictment related 

the information tolled the statute of limitations and (2) 

The second issue is not disputed. Appellant does not 

to the date of the original indictment ‘so long as a strong 

Ojedokun United States v. 
Snowden

contained in an information, it is “timely since it relate[s] 
United States v. Avery, 
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see also United 
States v. Saussy

information.”).

The governing statute provides that a defendant is 

of “institut[ing]” the information so as to pass statute of 

on May 26, 2020.

interpretation of the statute. Espinal-Andrades v. 
Holder, 777 F.3d 163, 166-67 (4th Cir. 2015). The plain 

etc.).” Institute
perma.cc/2RLY-UQNR (last visited Apr. 12, 2024). 

Institute
https://perma.cc/KJD3-5A24 (last visited Apr. 12, 2024). 
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its purpose. Statutes of limitations are designed to “limit 

United States v. Smith, 373 F.3d 
Toussie, 397 U.S. at 114). 

Saussy

Ojedokun, 16 F.4th at 1112 
United States v. Salmonese

see also United States v. Liu
997 (9th Cir. 2013) (“The central concern in determining 

an information puts a defendant on notice of the charges 

those charges.

The other circuits that have addressed this issue 

one. United States v. Burdix-Dana, 149 F.3d 741, 743 (7th 
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accord United States v. Cooper, 956 F.2d 960, 962-63 (10th 

see also Ragland v. United States, 

in failing to dismiss the charges against him as untimely.

B.

Fourth Amendment

Appellant contends his Fourth Amendment rights 

contends that police had no right to search the apartment 

the apartment, and that he had standing to challenge their 
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search as an overnight guest. The Government contests 
each of these arguments.

site data, including the searches of his phone, his person, 

After holding a hearing on the motion to suppress, the 
district court denied the motion.

error and its legal determinations de novo. United States 
v. Abdallah

Id.

1.

see also J.A. 109-114 (reproducing 

Location Pursuant to Md. Code Ann., Crim. Proc. 
§ 1-203.1).7

7. 
the parties in this appeal.
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cause. United States v. Blakeney

Id.
Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 236, 103 S. Ct. 2317, 76 L. 

United States v. Jones
Gates

Blakeney, 949 F.3d 
United States v. Owens

novo. Jones

See 
generally Md. Code Ann., Crim. Proc. § 1-203.1. “A court 
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information from an electronic device after determining 

Jones

(citing Gates

investigated.” Id.



Appendix A

discontinued a prior pattern of calls to the victim around 

2.

The Government points out that police did not rely on the 

United States v. Buckner, 473 F.3d 551, 
554 (4th Cir. 2007) (citing Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 
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19a

Id. (citations 

United States v. Hylton

on appeal is conducted under the clear error standard.” 
United States v. Azua-Rinconada, 914 F.3d 319, 324 (4th 
Cir. 2019) (citing United States v. Lattimore

to search the apartment and detained Appellant pursuant 

Id. see also id. 

The court thus held, “Nothing in the record, including 

Id.
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20a

the apartment. See Azua-Rinconada, 914 F.3d at 325 

3.

search his person once they entered the apartment and 
that, as an overnight guest, he had standing to challenge 
their search. Appellant emphasizes that the district court 

14. The Government counters that police had authority to 

of the apartment.

United States v. Everett
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Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 333, 

Id.

Appellant does not contend that any part of this 

court erroneously determined that Appellant did not have 
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C.

Brady Evidence

Appellant contends that the Government committed a 
Brady

victims. Under Brady

the prosecution.” Brady v. Maryland

the evidence. Arizona v. Youngblood
Brady 

violation, a defendant must prove that the evidence at 

not disclosed to [the] defendant).” United States v. Young, 
United States v. 

Sarihifard

A crime scene technician determined that the camera 

Appellant argues on appeal that the Government should 
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footage. The Government responds that Brady does 

Brady 

Brady
First, he cannot demonstrate that the footage on the 

Brady violation.” Young United States v. 
Caro

reveal, he cannot satisfy Brady

And second, Appellant cannot demonstrate that the 

United States v. Stokes, 261 F.3d 
496, 502 (4th Cir. 2001) (noting that a defendant must 

to disclose them”). Thus, Appellant fails to satisfy the test 
of Brady

Youngblood, 

only “potentially useful” to Appellant. Youngblood

the Government committed a Brady
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D.

Alleged Use of Perjured Testimony

Appellant contends that the Government used 

Appellant provides no evidence demonstrating that any 

sometimes contradictory, testimony. The Government 

actually false.

United States v. Barko
(citing Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269, 79 S. Ct. 1173, 

Appellant also argues that the Government committed a 
Brady
the house had footage from the time of the murder. For the same 

Brady 
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Id. (citing Giglio v. United 
States, 405 U.S. 150, 154, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104 

false impression of material fact. Id.

falsely.” United States v. Griley

In attempt to support his argument, Appellant points 

•  Kiara Haynes testif ied that she 

the victim of the drugs in her possession, and 
then murder the victim. Appellant emphasizes 
that Haynes “lied to the government on 
numerous occasions prior to her testimony 

•  Alfred Harris

criminal record. Appellant also points out that 
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•  
Appellant a car ride on the day after the 
murders and that Appellant made incriminating 
statements to him. Appellant argues that Briscoe 

police, telling them he did not sell drugs (even 

Br. at 25-26.

Opening Br. at 24. Regarding Harris, Appellant argues 
Id. at 25. And regarding 

Id.

Griley
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United States v. Savage
United States v. Taylor, 

omitted). Appellant had an opportunity to challenge the 

secure his conviction.

E.

affected interstate commerce. The Government responds 
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United States v. Reid

1.

Drug Charges

The Government responds that it did not need to 

the appearance and effects of heroin. Further, one of 
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The Government also argues that the specific 

United States v. Ali

Id. The Government argues that the same is 

See United States v. Dolan, 544 
F.2d 1219, 1221 (4th Cir. 1976) (“[L]ay testimony and 

United States v. Scott, 725 F.2d 

United States v. Uwaeme, 975 F.2d 1016, 1019-20 (4th Cir. 

the appearance and effect of the drug. See Dolan, 544 F.2d 
at 1221 (“Such circumstantial proof may include evidence 
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Scott

user of cocaine, it had the effect of cocaine . . . .”). There 

See Scott, 725 

See Reid, 

Further, regardless of the specif ic chemical 

See Uwaeme, 975 F.2d 

(citing Scott

Ali, 
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a controlled substance or to possess 
a controlled substance, it does 

the chemicals, derivatives, isomers, esters, ethers, or salts 

see also United States v. Barbosa

analysis applies to Count One, the conspiracy count, 
Ali

is derived from that of the underlying offense, in this 

controlled substance does not relieve the government of 

Id. (emphasis in original). But here, that 
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2.

Robbery and Murder

Appellant also challenges the sufficiency of the 
evidence on Counts Four and Five, use and carry of 

The Government argues that Appellant misunderstands 
the charging statute -- that he is presupposing that the 

commerce, Appellant therefore asserts the Government 

Counts Four and Five, are (1) a predicate § 924(c) drug-

caused the murder of another person. United States v. 
Foster, 507 F.3d 233, 245 (4th Cir. 2007). “Murder,” in 
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in either instance.

See United States v. Said, 26 F.4th 
653, 659 (4th Cir. 2022) (“[A] § 924(c) conviction may stand 
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III.

AFFIRMED.
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APPENDIX B — JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL 
CASE, UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, 

DISTRICT OF MARYLAND,  
FILED JANUARY 4, 2023

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

Case Number: RDB-1-20-CR-00139-001

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

ANDRE RICARDO BRISCOE

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
(For Offenses Committed on or After November 1, 1987)

THE DEFENDANT:

pleaded guilty to count(s)

 pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) ,  w h ic h  w a s 
accepted by the court.

was found guilty on counts 1ssss, 2ssss, 3ssss, 4ssss, 
5ssss, and 6ssss of the Third Superseding Indictment 
after a plea of not guilty.
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Title & 
Section

Nature of 
Offense

Date 
Offense 

Concluded

Count 
Number(s) 

21:846 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21:841(a)(1); 
18.2

Conspiracy 
To 

Distribute 
and Possess 

With The 
Intent To 
Distribute 
Controlled 
Substances 

Possession 
With 

Intent To 
Distribute 
Controlled 

Substances; 
Aiding and 
Abetting

October 
2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 

October 
2015

1ssss 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2ssss

The defendant is adjudged guilty of the offenses 
listed above and sentenced as provided in pages 2 through  
 7  of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to 

U.S. v. 
Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005).

 The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s)  
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Counts of the Information, Indictment, Superseding 
Indictment, and Second Superseding Indictment are 
dismissed on the motion of the United States.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendant 
shall notify the United States Attorney for this district 
within 30 days of any change of name, residence, or 

special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully 
paid.

January 4, 2023 
Date of Imposition of Judgment

/s/ Richard D. Bennett January 4, 2023 
Richard D. Bennett Date 
United States District Judge

ADDITIONAL COUNTS OF CONVICTION

Title & 
Section

Nature of 
Offense

Date 
Offense 

Concluded

Count 
Number(s) 

18:922(g)
(1);18:2

Possession Of 
A Firearm and 
Ammunition By 

A Prohibited 
Person; Aiding 
and Abetting

October 
2015

3ssss
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18:924(c)
And((j)
(1);18:2

Use and Carry 
Of A Firearm 
During and In 
Relation To A 

Crime and Crime 
Of Violence 

Causing The 
Death Of Another; 

Aiding and 
Abetting

4ssss

18:924(c)
And((j)
(1);18:2

Use and Carry 
Of A Firearm 
During and In 
Relation To A 

Crime and Crime 
Of Violence 

Causing The 
Death Of Another; 

Aiding and 
Abetting

October 
2015

5ssss

18:1512(a)
(1)(C)

And(a)(3)
(A);18:2

Killing A 
Witness 

To Prevent 
Communication 

To Law 
Enforcement; 

Aiding and 
Abetting

October 
2015

6ssss
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IMPRISONMENT

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of 
the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for 
a total term of  480 months as to count 1; 480 months as 
to count 2; 120 months as to count 3; Life as to  count 
4; Life as to count 5; Life as to count 6; Terms to run 
concurrent, with credit given for time served  from 
Mav 22, 2020.

the Bureau of Prisons:

1. That the defendant be designated to the USP 
Allenwood at Allenwood, Pennsylvania  for 
service of his sentence.

2. That the defendant NOT be designated to the 
FCI at Morgantown for service of his sentence.

3. That the defendant participate in any appropriate 
psychological and mental health counseling/
evaluation and treatment program.

4. That the defendant participate in any appropriate 
vocational training program.

The defendant is remanded to the custody of the 
United States Marshal

 The defendant shall surrender to the United States 
Marshal for this district:

 at            a.m./p.m. on           .
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 The defendant shall surrender, at his/her own 
expense, to the institution designated by the Bureau 

notice to be sent to the defendant by the United 
States Marshal. If the defendant does not receive 
such a written notice, defendant shall surrender to 
the United States Marshal:

 before 2pm on                                                   .

A defendant who fails to report either to the designated 
institution or to the United States Marshal as directed 
shall be subject to the penalties of Title 18 U.S.C. 
§3146. If convicted of an offense while on release, the 
defendant shall be subject to the penalties set forth in 
18 U.S.C. §3147. For violation of a condition of release, 
the defendant shall be subject to the sanctions set forth 
in Title 18 U.S.C. §3148. Any bond or property posted 
may be forfeited and judgment entered against the 
defendant and the surety in the full amount of the bond.

RETURN

I have executed this judgment as follows:

Defendant delivered on            to            at           , with 

/s/                                                        
UNITED STATES MARSHAL

By: /s/                                                  
DEPUTY U.S. MARSHAL
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SUPERVISED RELEASE

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall 
be on supervised release for a term of 4 years as to  count 
1; 4 years as to count 2; 3 years as to count 3; 5 years as 
to count 4; 5 years as to count 5; 5 years as  to count 6; 
terms to run concurrent for a total of 5 years.

The defendant shall comply with all of the following 
conditions:

the district to which the defendant is released within 72 
hours of release from the custody of the Bureau of Prisons.

A. MANDATORY CONDITIONS

1) You must not commit another federal, state or local 
crime.

2) You must not unlawfully possess a controlled 
substance.

3) You must refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled 
substance. You must submit to one drug test within 
15 days of release from imprisonment and at least two 
periodic drug tests thereafter, as determined by the 
court.

 The above drug testing condition is suspended, 
based on the court’s determination that you pose 

check if 
applicable)

§§ 3663 and 3663A or any other statute authorizing a 
sentence of restitution. (check if applicable)
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5) You must cooperate in the collection of DNA as 

6)  You must comply with the requirements of the Sex 

§ 20901, et seq
the Bureau of Prisons, or any state sex offender 
registration agency in the location where you reside, 

offense. (check if applicable)

7) You must participate in an approved program for 
domestic violence. (check if applicable)

You must comply with the standard conditions that have 
been adopted by this court as well as with any other 
conditions on the attached page

B. STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION

As part of your supervised release, you must comply with 
the following standard conditions of supervision. These 
conditions are imposed because they establish the basic 
expectations for your behavior while on supervision and 

improvements in your conduct and condition.

judicial district where you are authorized to reside 
within 72 hours of your release from imprisonment, 

frame.
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2) After initially reporting to the probation office, 
you will receive instructions from the court or the 

district where you are authorized to reside without 
first getting permission from the court or the 

5) You must live at a place approved by the probation 
officer. If you plan to change where you live or 
anything about your living arrangements (such as the 
people you live with), you must notify the probation 

to unanticipated circumstances, you must notify the 

of a change or expected change.

time at your home or elsewhere, and you must permit 

by the conditions of your supervision that he or she 
observes in plain view.

at a lawful type of employment, unless the probation 
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you from doing so. If you plan to change where you 

position or your job responsibilities), you must notify 
the probation officer at least 10 days before the 

days in advance is not possible due to unanticipated 

within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or 
expected change.

8) You must not communicate or interact with someone 

someone has been convicted of a felony, you must not 

1) If you are arrested or questioned by a law enforcement 

72 hours.

ammunition, destructive device, or dangerous weapon 

law enforcement agency to act as a confidential 

permission of the court.
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5) You must follow the instructions of the probation 

C. SUPERVISED RELEASE

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS

1. You must not communicate, or otherwise interact, 
with the family of the victims, either directly or through 

2. You must participate in a vocational services program 
and follow the rules and regulations of that program. Such 

development training.

3. You must participate in a mental health treatment 
program and follow the rules and regulations of that 

treatment provider, will supervise your participation 
in the program (provider, location, modality, duration, 
intensity, etc.).

4. You must participate in a substance abuse treatment 
program and follow the rules and regulations of that 
program. The probation officer will supervise your 
participation in the program (provider, location, modality, 
duration, intensity, etc.).
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A U.S. probation officer has instructed me on the 

with a written copy of this judgment containing these 
conditions. For further information regarding these 
conditions, see Overview of Probation and Supervised 
Release Conditions, available at: www.uscourts.gov.

Defendant’s Signature /s/                         Date                     

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary 
penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 5B.

Assessment Restitution Fine
TOTALS $600.00 $.00 WAIVED

AVAA  
Assessment*

 JVTA  
Assessment**

TOTALS $.00

 CVB Processing Fee $30.00

 The determination of restitution is deferred until  
        . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
(AO 245C) will be entered after such determination.

Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-299.

No. 114-22
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community restitution) to the following payees in the 
amount listed below.

payee shall receive an approximately proportioned 

order or percentage payment column below. However, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal victims 
must be paid before the United States is paid.

Name of 
Payee

Total 
Loss***

Restitution 
Ordered

Priority or 
Percentage

TOTALS   $                     $                    

Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea 
agreement                                      

 The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a 

of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f). All 
of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject to 
penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. § 3612(g).

*** Findings for the total amount of losses are required 
under Chapters 109A, 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses 
committed on or after September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 
1996.
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 The court determined that the defendant does not 
have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that:

 the interest requirement is waived for the  
 restitution

 the interest requirement for the  f ine  

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

penalties shall be due as follows:

A  In full immediately; or

B  $           immediately, balance due (in accordance 
with C, D, or E); or

C Not later than            ; or

D Installments to commence day(s) after the date of 
this judgment.

E  In               (e.g. equal weekly, monthly, quarterly) 
installments of $              over a period of  
             year(s) to commence when the defendant 
is placed on supervised release.

The defendant will receive credit for all payments 
previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties 
imposed.
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Unless the court expressly orders otherwise, if this 
judgment imposes a period of imprisonment, payment of 
criminal monetary penalties shall be due during the period 
of imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties, except 
those payments made through the Bureau of Prisons 
Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are to be made 

NO RESTITUTION OR OTHER FINANCIAL 
PENALTY SHALL BE COLLECTED THROUGH 
THE INMATE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
PROGRAM.

If the entire amount of criminal monetary penalties is 
not paid prior to the commencement of supervision, the 
balance shall be paid:

 in equal monthly installments during the term of 
supervision; or

on a nominal payment schedule of $             per 
month during the term of supervision.

of the payment schedule depending on the defendant’s 

Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal 
monetary penalties:

 Joint and Several
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Case 
Number 

Defendant 
and Co-

Defendant 
Names 

(including 
defendant 
number)

Total 
Amount

Joint and 
Several 
Amount

Corresponding 
Payee, if 

appropriate

 The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution.

The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s):

 The defendant shall forfeit the defendant’s interest in 
the following property to the United States:

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) 
assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution 

interest, (7) community restitution, (8) JVTA assessment, 
(9) penalties, and (10) costs, including cost of prosecution 
and court costs.
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APPENDIX C — MEMORANDUM OPINION  
OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND,  
FILED AUGUST 26, 2020

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

Criminal No. RDB-20-0139

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

v.

ANDRE RICARDO BRISCOE, 

Defendant.

Filed August 26, 2020

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Defendant Andre Ricardo Briscoe (“Defendant” or 
“Briscoe”) is charged in all three counts of a three-count 
Indictment (ECF No. 19), to wit: conspiracy to distribute 
and possess with the intent to distribute controlled 
substances, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846 (Count One); 
possession with intent to distribute controlled substances, 
in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Count Two); and 

person, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) (Count Three).

Now pending is Briscoe’s Motion to Dismiss All Counts 
for Failure to Indict within the Statute of Limitations 
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(ECF No. 11) and Supplemental Motion to Dismiss All 
Counts (ECF No. 24). The parties’ submissions have 
been reviewed, and a remote hearing on this matter was 
conducted on August 25, 2020. For the reasons stated 
herein, the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss All Counts 
(ECF No. 11) and Supplemental Motion to Dismiss All 
Counts (ECF No. 24) are DENIED IN PART. The parties 
agree that the arguments presented in their submissions 
as to Count One are not yet ripe. Accordingly, those 
arguments shall be held in abeyance and the Motions 
(ECF Nos. 11 and 24) remain pending.

BACKGROUND

On May 28, 2015 at approximately 8:26 a.m., a seven-
year-old boy (Victim 2) and his mother (Victim 1) were 
found murdered in their Baltimore home. (20-mj-1328-
CBD, Complaint Aff. ¶ 7, ECF No. 29-1 *SEALED*). 
There is evidence that the victims likely died between 
11:41 a.m. and 1:29 p.m. on May 27, 2015. (Id. at ¶¶ 10, 
15, 20.) The Government alleges that Briscoe murdered 
Victim 1 in furtherance of a narcotics distribution 
conspiracy. (ECF No. 29 at 4-5.) It is alleged that Victim 
1 was a heroin dealer and that Defendant Briscoe was 
her weekly or twice weekly customer. (ECF No. 29 at 
4.) Briscoe claims to have been with his cousin on the 
morning of May 27, 2015, and that, later in the day, he was 
dropped off on Broadway Street near the Perkins Homes 
neighborhood in Baltimore. (ECF No. 29 at 16.)

On Wednesday, May 20, 2020, United States 
Magistrate Judge Charles B. Day signed a sealed 
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Criminal Complaint and arrest warrant supported by an 

two days later on Friday, May 22, 2020. (See SEALED 
docket CBD-20-1328). On Tuesday, May 26, 2020, the 
Government filed a Criminal Information charging 
Briscoe with conspiring from March 2015 to June 2015 to 
distribute and possess with intent to distribute 100 grams 
or more of heroin (Count One), possessing with intent to 
distribute 100 grams or more of heroin on May 27, 2015 

from having as a result of felony conviction on the same 
day. (ECF No. 1.) At that time, an Indictment could not 
be obtained because Standing Orders of this Court had 
suspended the convening of all grand juries in this District 
in light of the COVID19 pandemic since approximately 
March 13, 2020. (ECF No. 15 at 2; ECF No. 29 at 9.) The 

that Defendant would argue that the statute of limitations 
expired on May 27, 2020. The Defendant never waived 
prosecution by Indictment.

On June 1, 2020, U.S. Magistrate Judge Mark Coulson 
presided over Briscoe’s detention hearing and ordered 
Defendant’s pretrial detention. (Order of Detention, 
ECF No. 4.) On June 5, 2020, Magistrate Judge Thomas 

presiding over Defendant’s preliminary hearing. (ECF 

convene in this District since March 13, 2020, returned 
the pending Indictment. (ECF No. 19.)
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ANALYSIS

Briscoe argues that dismissal of Counts Two and 
Three is appropriate because the Government has failed 
to abide by the statute of limitations set forth 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3282(a). Briscoe additionally claims that the Government 
violated his due process rights by unduly delaying the 
institution of charges in this case. Briscoe’s claims are 
addressed in turn.

I. Counts Two and Three Are Not Barred by the 
Statute of Limitations.

18 U.S.C. § 3282(a) requires an indictment to be “found” 

the occurrence of a non-capital offense. In this case, the 
parties agree that the relevant statute of limitations 
deadline is May 27, 2020. The parties further agree, and it 

that deadline (on May 26, 2020), but that the Indictment 

parties agree that the Indictment is only timely if “relates 
back” to the Information, and if the Information is valid. 
The Defendant argues (1) that an indictment can never 
“relate back” to an information; (2) that the Indictment 
does not relate back to the Information in this case; and (3) 
that the Information is invalid because (a) the Defendant 
did not waive prosecution by Indictment (see Fed. R. Crim. 
P. 7) and (b) the Defendant was not issued a warrant or 
summons in connection with the Information (see Fed. R. 
Crim. P. 9).
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A superseding indictment f iled outside of the 
limitations period may “relate back” to an earlier, timely 
indictment. See United States v. Snowden, 770 F.2d 393, 
398 (4th Cir. 1985). “As long as a superseding indictment 
does not broaden or substantially amend the original 
indictment, the superseding indictment relates back to the 

period.” United States v. Brown, 580 F. Supp. 2d 518, 520 
(W.D. Va. 2008) (citing United States v. Grady, 544 F.2d 
598, 601-02 (2d Cir. 1976)). Although the rule is ordinarily 
applied as between superseding and original indictments, 
there is no reason why a subsequent indictment cannot 
relate back to a preceding, valid information because the 
two forms of charging documents are treated the same for 
statute of limitations purposes. See 18 U.S.C. § 3282(a). 
In this case, Counts Two and Three of the Indictment are 
identical to Counts Two and Three of the Information and, 
accordingly, may “relate back” to the Information.

Contrary to the Defendants’ arguments, the 
Information in this case is valid and does not offend 
Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(b) or 9. Although Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(b) 
requires the Defendant to waive an Indictment before 
being “prosecuted by Information,” 18 U.S.C. § 3282(a) 
requires only that an Information must be “instituted” 
within the 5-year statute of limitations period to be 
timely. The terms “prosecuted” and “instituted” are 
not equivalent. An information is “instituted” when it 

Further prosecutorial actions – such as a trial or a plea 
agreement – would require waiver, as Rule 7(b) sets forth. 
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This interpretation comports with the plain language of 
the statute and Rule, and is consistent with the majority 
view of those Courts which have addressed this issue. See 
United States v. Burdix -Dana, 149 F.3d 741 (7th Cir. 1998) 

to institute it within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 3282.”); 
United States v. Cooper, 956 F.2d 960 (10th Cir. 1992) 

in the absence of a waiver. . . .”); United States v. Marifat, 
WBS-17-0189, 2018 WL 1806690, at *2-3 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 
17, 2018) (following Burdix -Dana); United States v. 
Hsin–Yung, 97 F.Supp.2d 24, 28 (D.D.C. 2000) (same); 
United States v. Stewart, 425 F. Supp. 2d 727, 731-35 (E.D. 
Va. 2006) (same); United States v. Watson, 941 F. Supp. 
601, 603-04 (N.D.W.Va.1996) (same).1 Accordingly, the 

even though Defendant did not waive his right to an 
indictment.

1. Defendant cites one case which does not follow Burdix-
Dana, namely, United States v. Machado, RWZ04-10232, 2005 
WL 2886213 (D. Mass. Nov. 3, 2005). In Stewart, supra, the 
Eastern District of Virginia declined to follow Machado on stare 
decisis grounds, noting that Machado was the only case that 
departed from BurdixDana. Stewart, 425 F. Supp. 2d at 734-35. 
For this same reason, this Court declines to follow Machado. As 
in Stewart
between “prosecuting” a Defendant through an Information, 
which would require waiver of an indictment, and “instituting” 
an Information for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations, 
which would not require a waiver. Additionally, Machado is 
distinguishable from this case on the grounds that, as a result of 
the suspension of grand jury proceedings due to the COVID19 
pandemic, it was impossible for the Government to make full use 
of the limitations period to obtain an Indictment.
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As to Defendant’s second contention, this Court rules 
that Fed. R. Crim. P. 9 does not require the issuance of 
a warrant or summons to render the Information valid. 
Rule 9 requires the Court to issue a warrant or, if the 
Government requests, a summons, upon a showing of 
probable cause accompanying an Information. There 
is nothing in Rule 9 which indicates that the failure to 
issue a warrant renders the Information a nullity. The 
rule protects the Defendant only insofar as it requires 
a probable cause finding before a warrant issues. 

operate in this case, because Briscoe had been arrested 
just a few days earlier on an arrest warrant issued in 
conjunction with the Criminal Complaint. The Complaint 
apprised Briscoe of the general nature of the charges; 

later and within the limitations period, afforded him even 
more notice. Under those circumstances, the Information 
is not rendered a nullity merely because the Defendant 
was not arrested again despite already being in federal 
custody. Accordingly, the Information is valid. Counts 
Two and Three of the Indictment may “relate back” to 

within the limitations period, and are therefore timely.

II. The Government Did Not Violate Briscoe’s Due 
Process Rights through Pre-Indictment Delay.

Defendant claims that his due process rights have 
been violated by the Government’s delay because he can 
no longer locate a potential alibi witness and because 
potentially useful surveillance footage has not been 
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preserved. Pre-indictment delay only offends due process 
when it causes “substantial prejudice” to a defendant’s 
right to a fair trial and only if the delay was an “intentional 
device” designed to give the Government a “tactical 
advantage.” United States v. Shealey, 641 F.3d 627, 633 
(4th Cir. 2011) (quoting United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 
307, 324, 92 S. Ct. 455 (1971)). The defendant faces a “heavy 
burden” to show actual, substantial prejudice – that is, that 
his ability to defend against the Government’s charges 
were meaningfully impaired by the delay. Shealey, 641 
F.3d at 633-34 (quoting Jones v. Angelone, 94 F.3d 900, 
907 (4th Cir. 1996)). To show prejudice resulting from the 
unavailability of a witness, the defendant must identify that 
witness, describe their expected testimony, demonstrate 
that the defendant has made efforts to locate the witness, 
and show that the witness’s proffered testimony is not 
available from other sources. Angelone, 94 F.3d at 908.

In this case, Defendant has failed to show either 
“actual prejudice” or that the Government intentionally 

a potential alibi witness only as “a woman” who he visited 
on the date of the alleged murders. He has not described 
her testimony or his efforts to locate her. (ECF No. 24 at 

are other potential alibi witnesses in this case, including 
Briscoe’s cousin. (ECF No. 29 at 16.) Furthermore, the loss 
of CCTV camera footage on Broadway Street near Perkins 
Homes, where Briscoe claims to have been dropped off on 
the day of the alleged murders, cannot be attributable to 
the Government’s delay. Briscoe claims that such footage 
is routinely deleted after 30 days when there has been no 
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request to preserve it. If that is the case, then the deletion 
of the footage has nothing to do with the Government’s 
delay. Rather, it is more likely that the Government did not 
preserve this footage because Briscoe never made clear 
to investigators the precise time or location of his arrival 
in the Perks Homes area. Under those circumstances, the 
routine deletion of this footage cannot be attributed to the 
timing of the Government’s charges.

Finally, and most importantly, the delay in this matter 
is attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic, not to any 
deliberate tactical maneuvering. Grand Jury proceedings 
were suspended between March 13, 2020 and July 1, 
2020 to prevent the spread of the novel coronavirus. See 
Standing Orders 2020-03 through 2020-16. Accordingly, 
the Government was not able to obtain an Indictment 

period. The suspension of these proceedings, though 
necessary to safeguard the public health, is equally 
detrimental to the Government and the Defendant. 
Accordingly, Briscoe’s due process claim is without merit.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Defendant’s Motion 
to Dismiss All Counts (ECF No. 11) and Supplemental 
Motion to Dismiss All Counts (ECF No. 24) are DENIED 
IN PART. The parties agree that the arguments presented 
in their submissions as to Count One are not yet ripe. 
Accordingly, those arguments shall be held in abeyance 
and the Motions (ECF Nos. 11 and 24) remain pending.

A separate order follows.

Dated: August 26, 2020

/s/                                                     
Richard D. Bennett 
United States District Judge
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APPENDIX D — ORDER OF THE UNITED 
STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE  
FOURTH CIRCUIT, FILED JUNE 6, 2024

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

No. 23-4013 
(1:20-cr-00139-RDB-1)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 

ANDRE RICARDO BRISCOE, A/K/A POO, 

Defendant-Appellant.

ORDER

The petition for rehearing en banc was circulated to 
the full court. No judge requested a poll under Fed. R. 
App. P. 35. The court denies the petition for rehearing 
en banc.

For the Court
/s/ Nwamaka Anowi, Clerk
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